# **RECEIVED**

08-02-2013

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

### **DISTRICT IV**

Case No. 2012AP2782-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent,

v.

ANDRE M. CHAMBLIS,

Defendant-Respondent-Cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR LA CROSSE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ELLIOTT M. LEVINE, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF** PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT-CROSS-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

MICHAEL C. SANDERS **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-**Cross-Respondent**

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the circuit court properly conclude that the State did not present sufficient evidence to prove the fact of Chamblis's prior Illinois offense relating to operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant (OWI), and with a prohibited alcohol concentration (PAC), so that it could be used to enhance the sentence for his current PAC offense?

The circuit court concluded that the State did not adequately prove the fact of the prior offense, even though the State submitted an Illinois Drivers Abstract demonstrating that Chamblis's operating privilege was revoked for driving while under the influence of an intoxicant, and with a prohibited alcohol concentration.

2. Did the circuit court err in not allowing the State to submit evidence before sentencing to prove the fact of Chamblis's prior Illinois offense, so that it could be counted to enhance the sentence for his current PAC offense?

The circuit court concluded that the prosecutor violated discovery rules by submitting additional evidence of Chamblis's Illinois offense the day before the plea hearing, more than six weeks before sentencing. The court therefore did not count the Illinois offense as a prior offense, and sentenced Chamblis for PAC as a sixth offense, rather than a seventh offense.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The plaintiff-appellant, State of Wisconsin (State), requests neither oral argument nor publication.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State appeals a judgment convicting the defendant-respondent, Andre M. Chamblis, of PAC, and sentencing him for a sixth offense (42, A-Ap. 101-102). A vehicle driven by Chamblis was stopped in La Crosse on November 22, 2011, and he was arrested (6:1, 5). The State charged Chamblis with OWI and PAC, and asserted that he had six prior OWI-related offenses (14). The State submitted proof of five prior offenses in Minnesota, and one prior offense in Illinois (33, A-Ap. 106-117; 47:17, A-Ap. 143). The circuit court, the Honorable Elliott M. Levine, concluded that the State did not adequately prove the fact of the Illinois offense (47:25-28, A-Ap. 151-54). It informed the prosecutor that he could submit additional

evidence of the Illinois offense before sentencing (47:28, A-Ap. 154). However, when the prosecutor attempted to submit additional evidence, the court concluded that the State had violated discovery rules by not submitting the additional evidence to defense counsel sooner, and declined to consider the evidence (49:15, 19-21, A-Ap. 171, 175-77). Chamblis pled guilty to PAC, and the court imposed sentence for a sixth offense (49:25-27, A-Ap. 181-83; 42, A-Ap. 101-02).

The State filed a notice of appeal of the judgment convicting Chamblis of OWI and sentencing him for a sixth offense, rather than for a seventh offense (51). Chamblis then filed notice of a cross appeal (65).

### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE STATE DID NOT PROVE THE FACT OF CHAMBLIS'S ILLINOIS OWIRELATED OFFENSE.

### A. Introduction.

The State asserted that Chamblis had six prior offenses that were countable under Wis. Stat. §§ 343.307 and 346.65, and that his conviction of PAC in this case should have been for a seventh offense (14). The State produced evidence to prove the fact of five Minnesota offenses, and one Illinois offense (33, A-Ap. 106-117; 47:17, A-Ap. 143). Chamblis did not contest the five Minnesota offenses, but he did file a motion requesting that the court not count the Illinois offense (30).

Chamblis made a number of arguments in his motion. First, he asserted that the two Illinois offenses were really one offense (30:2-3). Second, he asserted that his cousin Allen Smith had posed as Chamblis in the Illinois and Minnesota offenses (30:3). Finally, Chamblis asserted that the number of prior offenses is an issue for the jury, not for the court (30:3-6).

The circuit court held a hearing on Chamblis's motion (47, A-Ap. 127-56). At the hearing, there was no dispute that the two Illinois offenses, if proved, would count as a single offense (47:4-6, A-Ap. 130-32). The court concluded that the number of prior offenses is an issue for the court, not the jury (47:24-25, A-Ap. 150-51). The court noted that the State did not submit a judgment of conviction to prove the Illinois offense (47:17, A-Ap. 143), and that the State submitted an Illinois Department of Transportation record, rather than a Wisconsin Department of Transportation record (47:18-19, A-Ap. 144-45). The court concluded that the Illinois Department of Transportation record had no date of arrest, and did not indicate "any place that it happened" (47:27, A-Ap. 153). The court concluded that the certified record from Illinois therefore "is not competent evidence under Spaeth" (47:28, A-Ap. 154) (citing State v. Spaeth, 206 Wis. 2d 135, 556 N.W.2d 728 (1996)). The court therefore concluded that "I will not consider that as a prior conviction unless there's some other evidence" (47:28, A-Ap. 154).

As the State will explain, the circuit court erred in not accepting the Illinois Department of Transportation record as competent evidence of Chamblis's prior Illinois offense.

### B. Applicable statutes.

The first issue in this case concerns whether the State presented sufficient competent evidence to prove Chamblis's Illinois offense, so that it is countable to enhance the sentence for his current OWI. Whether a prior offense is countable for sentence enhancement purposes is governed by Wis. Stat. §§ 346.65, 343.307(1), and 340.01(9r). Section 346.65 "Penalty for violating sections 346.62 to 346.64" provides in relevant part that:

### **(2)** (am) Any person violating s. 346.63 (1):

**6.** Except as provided in par. (f), is guilty of a Class G felony if the number of convictions under

ss. 940.09(1) and 940.25 in the person's lifetime, plus the total number of suspensions, revocations, and other convictions counted under s. 343.307 (1), equals 7, 8, or 9, except that suspensions, revocations, or convictions arising out of the same incident or occurrence shall be counted as one.

Section 343.307, "Prior convictions, suspensions or revocations to be counted as offenses" provides in relevant part that:

- (1) The court shall count the following to determine the length of a revocation under s. 343.30 (1q) (b) and to determine the penalty under ss. 114.09 (2) and 346.65 (2):
- (a) Convictions for violations under s. 346.63 (1), or a local ordinance in conformity with that section.
- (b) Convictions for violations of a law of a federally recognized American Indian tribe or band in this state in conformity with s. 346.63 (1).
- (c) Convictions for violations under s. 346.63 (2) or 940.25, or s. 940.09 where the offense involved the use of a vehicle.
- (d) Convictions under the law of another jurisdiction that prohibits a person from refusing chemical testing or using a motor vehicle while intoxicated or under the influence of a controlled substance or controlled substance analog, or a combination thereof; with an excess or specified range of alcohol concentration; while under the influence of any drug to a degree that renders the person incapable of safely driving; or while having a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood, as those or substantially similar terms are used in that jurisdiction's laws.
- (e) Operating privilege suspensions or revocations under the law of another jurisdiction arising out of a refusal to submit to chemical testing.
  - (f) Revocations under s. 343.305 (10).
  - (g) Convictions under s. 114.09(1)(b)1. or 1m.

Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1).

Wisconsin Stat. § 340.01(9r) supplies the definition of "conviction" for use in the motor vehicle code, including § 343.307(1). *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 132, ¶ 43, 330 Wis. 2d 1, 784 N.W.2d 213. It provides as follows:

**340.01 Words and phrases defined.** In s. 23.33 and chs. 340 to 349 and 351, the following words and phrases have the designated meanings unless a different meaning is expressly provided or the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

. . . .

- (9r) "Conviction" or "convicted" means an unvacated adjudication of guilt, or a determination that a person has violated or failed to comply with the law in a court of original jurisdiction or an authorized administrative tribunal, an unvacated forfeiture of property deposited to secure the person's appearance in court, a plea of guilty or no contest accepted by the court, the payment of a fine or court cost, or violation of a condition of release without the deposit of property, regardless of whether or not the penalty is rebated, suspended, or probated, in this state or any other jurisdiction. It is immaterial that an appeal has been taken. "Conviction" or "convicted" includes:
- (a) A forfeiture of deposit under ss. 345.26 and 345.37, which forfeiture has not been vacated;
- (b) An adjudication of having violated a law enacted by a federally recognized American Indian tribe or band in this state.
- (c) An adjudication of having violated a local ordinance enacted under ch. 349;
- (d) A finding by a court assigned to exercise jurisdiction under chs. 48 and 938 of a violation of chs. 341 to 349 and 351 or a local ordinance enacted under ch. 349.

C. The Illinois Department of Transportation record that the State submitted was competent evidence of Chamblis's Illinois offense.

To establish prior convictions for sentence enhancement purposes, the State must present "competent proof of prior convictions." Spaeth, 206 Wis. 2d 135, 148 (citing State v. McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d 532, 539, 319 N.W.2d 865 (1982)). In general, "competent proof" means either a defendant's admission, or "reliable documentary proof of each conviction." Id. (citing McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d at 539; State v. Wideman, 206 Wis. 2d 91, 104-05, 556 N.W.2d 737 (1996); State v. Meyer, 258 Wis. 326, 338, 46 N.W.2d 341 (1951)).

In *Spaeth*, the supreme court the State provides "competent proof" of prior violations of Wisconsin's operating after revocation law when it presents the court with "(1) an admission; (2) copies of prior judgments of conviction for OAR; or (3) a teletype of the defendant's Department of Transportation (DOT) driving record." *Id.* at 153.

Wisconsin Spaeth concerned convictions. suspensions, and revocations. In State v. Devries, 2011 WI App 78, ¶ 1, 334 Wis. 2d 430, 801 N.W.2d 336, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals addressed whether the State had sufficiently proved Devries's two out-of-state "convictions," one from Arizona and another from California. To prove the Arizona "conviction," the State submitted certified copies of an "Arizona Traffic Ticket and Complaint," two different "Phoenix Municipal Court 'Record of Proceedings," and a "decision by an Arizona Department of Transportation administrative law judge suspending Devries's Arizona driver's license/operating privileges for ninety days." *Id.* ¶ 5.

The State did not submit a judgment of conviction demonstrating that Devries was "convicted" of OWI. Instead, the State submitted evidence demonstrating that

(1) Devries was arrested on August 31, 2005 for drunk driving; (2) Devries was directed to appear in court on the specified date; (3) Devries promised to appear in court on the specified date; (4) Devries had a lawyer for the Arizona matter; and (5) Devries defaulted on her obligation and promise to appear in court. Indeed, one of Devries's trial lawyers conceded that Devries had "violated a condition of her bond" in Arizona.

*Id.* The court of appeals concluded that these documents were sufficient to prove a prior "conviction" as defined in Wis. Stat. § 343.307. *Devries*, 334 Wis. 2d 430, ¶ 5.

In regards to the California case, the State submitted certified copies of: (1) A "Notice to Appear' (uppercasing omitted) on a form used by the 'Sheriff's Department County of Riverside' (uppercasing omitted) California"; (2) "A complaint filed on January 26, 2004, in the Superior Court for Riverside County that charged Devries with drunk driving on December 26, 2003"; and (3) "A document titled 'Case Print' (uppercasing omitted) for the Riverside courts referencing Devries's arrest on December 26, 2003." *Id.* ¶ 6.

The State did not submit a judgment of conviction. However the court of appeals concluded that the documents the State submitted proved that:

(1) Devries was arrested on December 26, 2003, for drunk driving; (2) Devries was "ordered" to appear in court on the date specified in the Notice to Appear; (3) Devries promised to appear in court on the date specified in the Notice to Appear; (4) Devries did not appear on the date specified in the Notice to Appear; (5) Devries had a lawyer for the California matter; (6) Devries pled "not guilty"; and (7) Devries did not appear for trial.

*Id.* ¶ 7.

### The court of appeals concluded that:

Thus, the documents support the circuit court's conclusion that Devries had a "conviction" as that word is defined by Wis. Stat. § 340.01(9r), because she did not appear in court after she was arrested and released even though she was "ordered" to do so, and she did not appear on the date scheduled for trial. See § 340.01(9r) (defining "conviction" as including: a "fail[ure] to comply with the law in a court of original jurisdiction"; and a "violation of a condition of release without the deposit of property.").

Id.

In the current case, the State submitted a certified copy of a document from the Illinois Department of Transportation, which indicated that Andre M. Chamblis, a male born 01-07-83, and who resided in Chicago, was arrested on 12-26-01, and that his operating privilege was revoked effective 07-20-02 (33, A-Ap. 106-117)<sup>1</sup>. The record indicates that on 12-26-01, Chamblis received three tickets in Cook County: (1) ticket number 25153 for "DUI/Alcohol concentration above limit"; (2) ticket number 25151 for "DUI/Alcohol"; and(3) ticket number 25151 for "Driving without a valid license or permit." The record indicates that Chamblis's operating privilege was revoked, effective 07-20-02, in the 1<sup>st</sup> district in Cook County.

The circuit court concluded that this evidence was not competent evidence to prove a prior conviction because the documents did not show the date of arrest or the place of the illegal driving. The face of the documents demonstrates that the court was incorrect. The State

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Illinois driving record of Andre M. Chamblis is the document with blue and red writing in the appellate record at 33, but with no page numbers.

maintains that, like in *Devries*, the documents submitted by the State were sufficient to prove a prior conviction.

The documents establish that Chamblis was arrested on 12-26-01, for "DUI/Alcohol concentration above limit" (PAC) and DUI /Alcohol (OWI), in Cook County, Illinois, and that his operating privilege was revoked effective 07-20-02 (33, A-Ap. 106-117). Under *Devries* and *Carter*, the State need only prove that it was determined that Chamblis violated the law in Illinois, and that as a result, he was "convicted." This is exactly what the documents submitted by the State showed.

The circuit court concluded that the documents submitted by the State were not competent evidence, and that "it creates a very unjust situation, with basically an assertion that there's some conviction in the State of Illinois, somewhere in the State of Illinois, but we don't know where it is. That's fundamentally unjust. There has to be more identification that that" (47:28, A-Ap. 154).

However, as explained above, the documents showed the date of arrest, the date of revocation, and the location of the court that entered the revocation. The document therefore constitutes sufficient evidence to prove the fact of the prior conviction.

For these reasons, the State submitted sufficient competent evidence to prove the fact of Chamblis's prior Illinois offense, and the circuit court erred by concluding that the State had not proved the prior offense.

As the State will next explain, even if the court were correct in concluding that the evidence the State submitted to prove the prior offense was not competent evidence, the court erred in not accepting the additional evidence the State attempted to submit, before sentencing, to prove that Chamblis had six prior offenses and should be sentenced for a seventh offense.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN NOT ACCEPTING ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE THAT THE STATE SUBMITTED BEFORE SENTENCING THAT PROVED CHAMBLIS'S PRIOR ILLINOIS OFFENSE.

### A. Introduction.

After the circuit court concluded that the evidence the State submitted to prove Chamblis's Illinois prior offense was insufficient, the court stated that it would not consider the offense as a prior conviction "unless there's other evidence" (47:28, A-Ap. 154). The court stated that "if obviously more evidence is supplied, Mr. Xiong, we will review it at that point in time" (47:28, A-Ap. 154).

At the plea hearing, held one week after the motion hearing, the parties discussed Chamblis pleading guilty to OWI, and the prosecutor told the court that he wanted to make an offer of proof and then submit additional information that he obtained to further prove the fact of the Illinois prior offense (49:6, A-Ap. 162).

However, the court informed the prosecutor that it wanted to know what level of felony Chamblis was going to plead to. The court stated:

At some point, you have to as the cliché, cut and fish bait, you know, either cut bait or fish. That's the whole thing. What are we doing? Are we going to hassle over this one? I know it makes a difference between a G and an H, but they're both felonies and they both have substantial prison time over them. Do we want to continue on with this process or not, and I guess I'm asking the State to seriously think because right now I'm going to take the evidence as it is presented and I think the State probably knows what my position is, because I believe I made it very clear. I mean, of the case law that I read into the record last time we had a hearing what the court thinks.

Unless there was something new that came up like a judgment of conviction, like a sentencing transcript, like some type of evidence indicating that Mr. Chamblis is the individual that, that has convictions in Illinois on that day, I'm going to stick probably with my original ruling.

(49:8-9, A-Ap. 164-65).

The prosecutor pointed out that the number of prior convictions is an issue at sentencing, and that the State had additional information from Illinois regarding the Illinois offense (49:10-11, A-Ap. 166-67). The prosecutor explained that he had a "clarified driver's transcript," that, like the original document the State submitted, showed an arrest date of December 26, 2001, and convictions the equivalent of OWI and PAC, entered in the Cook County First District Court (49:10, A-Ap. 166).

The court noted that the additional documents the State was submitting showed a date of arrest and a jurisdiction (49:11, A-Ap. 167). However, Chamblis's defense counsel argued that the additional documents were "too little, too late" (49:12, A-Ap. 168).

The court seemingly agreed with defense counsel, and it declined to consider the additional documents (49:12-15, A-Ap. 168-71). The court seemed to conclude that by not obtaining and submitting the additional information to defense counsel sooner, the State violated discovery rules (49:15, A-Ap. 171). The court concluded that it would not accept additional information relating to the number of prior offense, for sentencing purposes (49:15, A-Ap. 171).

The prosecutor objected to the court's decision on two grounds. First, the prosecutor noted that the documents it originally submitted were sufficient to prove the act of Chamblis's prior Illinois offense (49:17, 22-23, A-Ap. 173, 178-79). Second, the prosecutor noted that the time for determining the number of prior offenses is at sentencing, and that the court therefore should consider

evidence submitted to prove the number of priors if the evidence is submitted prior to sentencing (49:18, 23, A-Ap. 174, 179).

The trial court concluded that the evidence of prior offenses had to be submitted to the court before the defendant entered a guilty plea, so that the defendant would know the maximum penalty he would face (49:19, A-Ap. 175). The court noted that the prosecutor had submitted the additional documents to the court and defense counsel before Chamblis entered his guilty plea, but the court concluded that the prosecutor had violated discovery rules by not submitting the documents sooner (49:19-21, A-Ap. 175-77).

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