RECEIVED 09-24-2013

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 4

Appeal No. 2012AP2782-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent,

vs.

ANDRE M. CHAMBLIS, Defendant-Respondent-Cross-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN THE LA CROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ELLIOTT M. LEVINE PRESIDING.

> COMBINED BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT-CROSS-APPELLANT

ZALESKI LAW FIRM Steven W. Zaleski State Bar No. 1034597 10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800 Madison, WI 53703 608-441-5199 (Telephone), 608-441-5196 (Fax) Attorney for Defendant-Respondent-Cross-Appellant

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

As some point, you have to as the cliché, cut and fish bait, you know, either cut bait or fish. That's the whole thing. What are we doing? Are we going to hassle over this one? I know it makes a difference between a G and an H, but they're both felonies and they both have substantial prison time over them. Do we want to continue on with this process or not, and I guess I'm asking the State to seriously think because right now I'm going to take the evidence as it is presented and I think the State probably knows what my position is, because I believe I made it very clear. I mean, of the case law that I read into the record last time we had a hearing what the Court thinks.

Unless there was something new that came up like a judgment of conviction, like a sentencing transcript, like some type of evidence indicating that Mr. Chamblis is the individual that, has convictions in Illinois on that day, I'm going to stick probably with my original ruling. 49:7-9.

At this point in the proceedings, the State offered that it indeed had some

additional information regarding the Illinois "convictions." 49:10-11. The

State however had not turned over such material to Chamblis. 49:9-10. As

such, Chamblis objected to the trial court's consideration of such material

on the basis that it had not been timely disclosed. 49:12. The trial court

agreed with Chamblis and ruled that it would only accept a plea to the

"lesser charge:"

This is—this case has been set for trial for a long time. The motion that Mr. Dyer brought actually was scheduled with appropriate time, an appropriate amount of time. The issue was flagged a long time ago to the Court and I'm sure it was flagged, I trust Mr. Dyer is saying that he told the District Attorney's office about this six months ago----49:12 I don't think it's fair to him, I don't think it's fair to Mr. Chamblis, specifically to have this information given to them so last second.

Just so it's clear, this is the Tuesday or the Wednesday before trial, which was jury selection next—next Monday. The final pre-trial was last week, the hearing was the last week too, and I can go back and look. The filing of the motion which was heard by the Court, you know, we had a hearing on it. In fact, I recall because the State then had to—wanted time to file a motion in response, filed it late, on September 5th. In the process of that motion to respond nobody does any more further discovery on whether they can show that prior conviction, which is the specific issue before the Court—the briefing had hearing on August 8th.

The Court gave the State until August 22^{nd} to respond and Defendant's response by August 27^{h} . Of course, the State didn't respond, didn't file a motion until September 5^{th} . It was only a day or so before the actual hearing—yeah, originally it was for September 4^{th} , the hearing was supposed to be September 4^{th} at 3:45, and the actual filing may have been on the same day, but it got marked by the Clerk's office on September 5^{th} .

You know, as I stated earlier, the evidence that was before the Court was that which was presented. Discovery requires discovery to be done in a timely fashion, to have this done last second like this, just prolongs, continues to prolong the process, and I don't know how to make a point to the State other than to say to the fact that if that's the position we are in, the Court's not going to consider the new evidence only the evidence before us. It's not clear and as I stated before, it's not clear that it's a prior conviction. If Mr. Chamblis is going to plead, he's going to plead guilty today to the lesser offense. I just can't –I can't justify extending things more. You had plenty of time, Mr. Xiong. It's too late, it's just too late, and I'm going—if I accept the plea today, it will be set for presentence investigation, but it will be specifically to the lower charge. 49:14-15.

It is clear that, under Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.29, after the filing of an information, the state must obtain the court's permission to modify the charges. See **State v. Conger**, 2010 WI 56,¶16, 325 Wis. 2d 664, 797N.W.2d 341; **Wagner v. State**, 60 Wis. 2d 722,727, 211 N.W.2d 449 (1973). It is similarly clear that a trial court has discretion under Section 971.29 as to whether or not to allow the State to amend the information.

Indeed, the statute expressly uses the term "may" in discussing a trial court's authority to allow an amendment. Of course, the statute also expressly contemplates whether such an amendment would be "prejudical" In this case, the trial court, as noted from the trial court's to a defendant. comments above, exercised its discretion to deny the State's effort to amend the information. Chamblis maintains that such discretion was will be more fully discussed below, Chamblis would proper. As additionally note that the trial court was required under Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.23(7m)(a) "Sanctions For Failure To Comply," to exclude the belated material offered by the State in support of the amended information. Chamblis maintains that the trial court's ruling was proper on this basis as well. If however, the State took issue with the trial court's ruling with respect to the proposed Amended Information and the admission of the supporting material for it, its remedy existed in a discretionary appeal under Rule 809.50 and Section 808.03(2), not an appeal of right under Section 974.05.

Wisconsin Stat. Sec. 974.05 governs State's Appeals and provides in relevant part:

(1)Within the time period specified by s. 808.04 (4) and in the manner provided for civil appeals under chs. 808 and 809, an appeal may be taken by the state from any:

(a) Final order or judgment adverse to the state, whether following a trial or a plea of guilty or no contest, if the appeal would not be prohibited by constitutional protections against double jeopardy.

In this case, the State is putting forth the theory that this appeal is an appeal of the judgment of conviction which is arguably a "final judgment" under Section 974.05(1)(a) as set forth above. What the State actually complains of though and seeks relief from is the trial court's order denying the State's Motion To Amend Information. (17). Such order, at the time it was made by the trial court, was not a final order or judgment. A final judgment or final order is a judgment, order or disposition that disposes of the entire matter in litigation as to one or more of the parties. See Wis. Stat. Sec. 808.03(1). Since the trial court's ruling with respect to the Amended Information did not "dispose of the entire matter in litigation" it was obviously not a "final judgment" or "final order." As such, the appeal of such decision was governed by the discretionary review process set forth in Wis. Stat. Sec. 808.03(2) and Wisconsin Rule of Appellate Procedure 809.50. See State v. Knapp, 2007 WI APP 273, ¶7, 306 Wis.2d 843, 743 N.W.2d 481.

Wis. Stat. Sec. 808.03(2) provides in relevant part:

(2) Appeals by permission. A judgment or order not appealable as a matter of right under sub. (1) may be appealed to the court of appeals in advance of a final judgment or order upon leave granted by the court if it determines that an appeal will:

(a) Materially advance the termination of the litigation or clarify further proceedings in the litigation;

(b) Protect the petitioner from substantial or irreparable injury; or

(c) Clarify an issue of general importance in the administration of justice.

In turn, Wisconsin Rule of Appellate Procedure 809.50 provides in relevant

part as follows:

(1)A person shall seek leave of the court to appeal a judgment or order not appealable as of right under s. 808.03 (1) by filing within 14 days after the entry of the judgment or order a petition and supporting memorandum, if any.

The dispute before the trial court as to the Illinois "convictions" and their application to the proposed Amended Information was a dispute that was well suited for discretionary review under Sec. 808.03(2). An appeal under such section would have "materially advance(d) the termination of the litigation or clarif(ied) further proceedings in the litigation." See Section 808.03(2)(a). Simply put, it would have clarified with certainty whether the State was entitled to amend the information based on the Illinois "convictions" or whether the trial acted properly in refusing the State's

effort to do so. To the extent the State believed it had suffered "substantial " or "irreparable" injury in not being able to charge Chamblis with an OWI 7th, 8th or 9th, Section 808.03(2)(b) similarly provided redress. To the extent that an answer from this Court clarified a murky procedural aspect of the law involving the charging and sentencing process in serial OWI/PAC offenses, some of the most common offenses in the state, it would have "clarif(ied) an issue of general importance in the administration of justice." See Section 808.03(2)(c). The State's remedy was clear. The proper mechanism was to seek leave to appeal under Sec. 808.03(2) and Rule 809.50 within 14 days of the trial court's order denying the State's Motion The State failed to do so and abandoned its to Amend the Information. proper remedy. Issues not raised on appeal are deemed abandoned. See Ansul, Inc., v. Employers Ins. Co. of Wausau, 2012 WI APP 135, 920 note 5, 345 Wis.2d 373, 826 N.W.2d 110. The State cannot now gain redress by recasting its complaint as an appeal of the judgment of conviction under Section 974.05(1)(a). Appeal from matter which is not specifically appealable confers no jurisdiction upon appellate court. See Walford v. Bartsch, 65 Wis.2d 254,260-262, 222 N.W.2d 633 (1974). Similarly, the Supreme Court lacks jurisdiction to entertain appeal which is not properly taken. See **Smith v. Plankinton de Pulaski**, 71 Wis.2d 251,256, 238 N.W.2d 94 (1976). The State's appeal is indeed not properly taken and this Court should deny it.

B. State's appeal is prohibited by **State v. Bangert**, 131 Wis.2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986) and constitutional protections against double jeopardy.

The State requests that this Court remand this case to the trial court for the imposition of an enhanced sentence. See State's brief at p.22. The problem with the State's request and its appeal its entirety is that it ignores the fact that the Chamblis was convicted upon a plea of guilty rather than by way of trial. As such, at the time Chamblis entered his plea of guilty, Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.08 required the trial court to "Address the defendant personally and determine that the plea is made voluntarily with understanding of the nature of the charge and the potential punishment if convicted." Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.08. An understanding of the "potential punishment" required that the trial court inform Chamblis of the maximum penalty that he faced upon being convicted. In this case, at the plea hearing on September 19, 2012, the trial court advised Chamblis that the offense he was pleading to was a Class H felony which carried a maximum penalty of

\$10,000.00 and imprisonment of not more than 6 years or both. 49:26. With this understanding, Chamblis entered a plea of guilty which the trial court accepted and used as a basis to convict Chamblis. The matter then proceeded to sentencing on November 5, 2012 at which time the trial court imposed a sentence of 2 years confinement and 2 years extended supervision. 50:20. Despite the fact that Chamblis entered his plea with the knowledge and understanding that the offense was a Class H felony which carried a maximum penalty of 6 years imprisonment, the State requests that this Court remand the case to the trial court so that the Chamblis could be re-sentenced for a Class G felony, which carries a maximum sentence of 10 years, and initial confinement of at least 3 years. The Court cannot do this because it would compromise the knowing and intelligent nature of Chamblis' plea. It would be unlawful to re-sentence Chamblis for a Class G felony, with higher penalties, when he entered a plea with the understanding that the offense would be a Class H felony with a different, lesser set of penalties. A plea is not knowingly or voluntarily entered when it is made without knowledge of the penalties the court could impose. State v. Merten, 2003 WI App 171, ¶6, 266 N.W.2d 588, 668 N.W.2d 750. What the State suggests doing would cause a violation of Section 971.08 as well Chamblis' right to due process under both Wisconsin and United States Constitutions.

At several points in its brief, the State takes the position that the OWI statute allows for a situation where a defendant may be convicted of an OWI/PAC offense only to learn at sentencing how many prior offenses will be counted against him. See State's brief at p.14,15, and 17. This may be true where the defendant is convicted at trial rather than upon a plea. In the trial situation, yes, the fact-finder, whether it is a court or jury, determines only whether the defendant is guilty or not guilty of the basic OWI/PAC offense, and then the court at sentencing determines the specific number of prior convictions for purposes of sentencing. Yes, in that situation, the defendant may not know until sentencing how many prior convictions will be counted against him. But such situation is different from the situation where a defendant is convicted upon a plea of no contest or guilty. This is where the State's arguments fail. The State argues that "a defendant who enters a guilty or no contest plea to OWI or PAC, and who is not sentenced immediately, will not know for certain how many prior convictions the court will count at sentencing, and what range of sentences he or she faces." See State's brief at p.15. Italics added. The State offers no

specific authority for this proposition. The State attempts to rely on **State v. Wideman**, 206 Wis.2d 91, 556 N.W.2d 737 (1996) and **State v. McAllister**, 107 Wis.2d 539, 319 N.W.2d 865 (1982) but such reliance is misplaced as such cases involve convictions after a jury trial. Indeed, **Wideman** expressly states that it deals with "issues of law involving a *not guilty plea*." See **Wideman**, 206 Wis.2d 91 at p.94. Italics added. In this case, we have a guilty plea. The State similarly offers no argument as to how a plea in such situation, one where the defendant will not know the range of sentence he faces, meets constitutional standards under **Bangert** and Sec. 971.08. Chamblis maintains that there is no way it would. This is why the trial court was so insistent on pinning down the precise number of prior convictions *prior* to the entry of the plea.

MR.DYER:....*it*'s confusing to me because I've never been through a plea hearing where I don't know what class of felony my client is pleading to.

COURT: Right. This is what I prefer to do.....49:5-6.

COURT: --I think the Court needs to make a determination of what level of felony it is.....49:7.

COURT:I mean, but I want the determination of what, how many prior convictions are (sic) before we actually enter into the plea, so Mr. Chamblis knows what he's pleading guilty to. 49:11.

COURT:....and the problem I see is this, is that in order for a plea, a Defendant or any individual to make a knowingly—knowing plea, they must understand, my requirement is to ask Mr. Chamblis, do you understand what the charge is and what the potential penalties are?

For me to ask that question, he cannot answer the second part of that question. It's too variable. He doesn't know if he's going to have a mandatory minimum or (sic) three years or six months. He doesn't know what the mandatory maximum may be, because we are in a position where there's no agreement as to what that issue is. And for there to be a plea agreement in this type of case, there has to be also be an agreement as to what the charges, exactly what the charge is. I cannot do a variable charge plea. 49:19.

Court: It is not a trial with a sentencing at a later date. This is a plea. It's a different type of procedure. 49:20.

The trial court was absolutely right. **Bangert** and due process principles required that Chamblis know and understand the specific penalty he faced prior to entering the plea. As such, it was incumbent on the State to establish the prior number of convictions prior to entry of the plea. The State tried to do so via its motion to amend the information. But the State's efforts, as examined earlier in this brief, were untimely and deficient. The trial court was therefore within its discretion under both Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.29 and Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.23 to deny the State's motion to amend the information based on the untimely additional material. The State's remedy, as discussed earlier, was to seek discretionary review under Section 808.03(2) and Rule 809.50. By failing to do so, the State

17

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